CASE NO. 23-CF-723

In The District of Columbia Court Of Appeals



STEFAN FARMER

Appellant

 \mathbf{v} .

UNITED STATES of AMERICA, Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robin M. Earnest
The Earnest Law Firm
7600 Ora Glen Dr., No. 241
Greenbelt, Maryland 20768
(240) 463-4625
REarnest@TheEarnestLawFirm.com

CJA Counsel for Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the trial judge erred in excluding testimony from defendant's independent psychologist regarding Mr. Farmer's mental health because the court found Farmer's witness notice did not comply with D.C. Superior Court Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 16(b).
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in denying defense counsel's request to give the jury self-defense instructions before their deliberations, given the presence of self-defense evidence put forth at trial and the fact that the jury sent a note requesting instructions on self-defense at the start of their deliberations.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

In April 2021 Mr. Farmer was arrested for offenses that occurred when he allegedly shot his childhood friend, Mr. Andre Sturdivant, during an altercation on February 25, 2021 (R. 42-51 PDF)¹. On October 21, 2021 a Grand Jury sitting in the District of Columbia returned a 12-Count Indictment against Mr. Farmer for:

Count 1- Assault with intent to kill while armed, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §401;

¹The abbreviation "(R. _ (PDF)" refers to the PDF record number of the document as identified in the D.C. Superior Court's Index/Certification and in compliance Rule 28(e) of this Court's Amended Rules.

- Count 2- Possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §4504(b);
- Count 3- Aggravated assault while armed in violation of 22 D.C. Code §404;
- Count 4- Possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §4504(b);
- Count 5- Assault with a dangerous weapon, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §402;
- Count 6- Possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §4504(b);
- Count 7- Assault with significant bodily injury while armed, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §404 (a)(2);
- Count 8- Possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §4504(b);
- Count 9- Unlawful possession of a firearm, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §4503 (a)(1), (b)(1);
- Count 10- Carrying a pistol without a license, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §4504(a);
- Count 11- Possession of an unregistered firearm, in violation of 7 D.C. Code §2502; and
- Count 12- Unlawful possession of ammunition, in violation of 7 D.C. Code §2506.01.

(R. 107-109 PDF). From February 27 to March 7, 2023 Mr. Farmer was tried before a jury sitting in D.C. Superior Court. He was acquitted on Counts 1 and 2, but found guilty of the remaning (R. 399-402 PDF).

On March 29, 2022 defense counsel filed notice of intent to raise the defense of Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity (NGRI) and on April 6, 2022 the Honorable Robert Okun ordered the Department of Behavioral Health (DBH) to conduct a Criminal Responsibility Examination. In August 2022 DBH Dr. Teresa Grant issued her Report. Based on Dr.

Grant's Report Judge Okun conditionally granted defense counsel's motion to bifurcate the guilt and insanity phases of his trial. In January both parties' filed timely D.C. Superior Court Rule of Criminal Procedure 16 Notices of expert witnesses. In February 2023 Judge Okun transferred the case to Judge Anthony Epstein who, at the trial readiness conference on February 16, 2023, granted the government's motion to exclude the testimony of defense expert Dr. Stephen Lally, Ph.D.

On August 22, 2023 Judge Epstein conducted a sentencing hearing and determined that all lesser assault convictions (i.e., Counts 5 and 7) merged with Aggravated Assault While Armed under Count 3; and that the remaning lesser convictions merged into Count 4 for Possession of a Firearm During a Crime of Violence (8/22/2023 Tr. pp.² 3-4). In calculating Mr. Farmer's within guideline range sentences for Counts Three and Four, the court stated that despite the jury's acquittal of Mr. Farmer on Count One (i.e., Assault with Intent to Kill

²The abbreviation "(___ Tr. p. __)" refers to the transcript from the record as identified in D.C. Superior Court case number 18 CF3 9764, and in compliance Rule 28(e) of this Court's amended rules effective June 10, 2024 (Amended Rules)

While Armed), it found "by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Farmer intended to kill Mr. Sturdivant when he shot him." *Id.* at 4. The court sentenced Farmer to 144 months on Count Three (the top of the guidelines range identified in the presentencing report (PSR)); and to a within guidelines range of 60 months on Count 4 (R. Sealed 65; R. 423 PDF). Because the court made the sentences consecutive, the total amount of time imposed was 204 months, followed by five years of supervised probation (R. 423 PDF; Tr. 8/22/23). Mr. Farmer filed a timely notice of appeal on August 29, 2023 (R. 424 PDF).

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. The Indictment

At the time he committed the subject offenses Mr. Farmer had been struggling with mental illness; specifically, as a young adult Farmer began suffering from hallucinations and bouts of paranoia which led to a diagnosis of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (R. Sealed pp. 32-33). In early 2021, Mr. Farmer was admitted to Prince Georges Hospital Center for psychiatric decompensation. (*Id.* p. 33).

In April 2021, Mr. Farmer was arrested for allegedly shooting his childhood friend (Mr. Andre Sturdivant) in the hand and thigh during an altercation in the early evening of February 25, 2021. That October, a Grand Jury returned a 12-Count Indictment against him which included four related charges of assault while armed counts, and eight possession Counts. In severity, these Counts ranged from Assault with Intent to Kill while armed, in violation of 22 D.C. Code §401 (Count One) to Unlawful Possession of Ammunition, in violation of 7 D.C. Code §2506.01 (Count 12). (R. 107-109 (PDF)).

2. Notice of Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity

Mr. Farmer pled not guilty and in March 2022, filed a notice of intent to raise a not guilty by reason of insanity defense (NGRI).

Thereafter, the court ordered a Criminal Responsibility Examination by the D.C. Department of Behavioral Health's Pretrial and Assessment Services Branch (DBH) (R. 129-30 PDF). On August 4, 2022 Teresa Grant, Ph.D. issued a report in which she acknowledged Mr. Farmer's lengthy history of mental health problems noting that:

Mr. Farmer reported that he was diagnosed with Bipolar Disorder/Schizophrenia in his 40s. He has been admitted to Prince Georges Hospital Center at least twice for psychiatric decompensation (2019 and 2021). Mr. Farmer reported that he

was most recently treated at Franklin Square Hospital in Baltimore, Maryland. He stated the Sheriff came by our house because my mother said I was acting strange and I was sent to a hospital in Laurel and then taken to Baltimore."

(R. 161 PDF). Also, that "[w]hile he was incarcerated at Pocahontas State Penitentiary, he experienced psychiatric issues in 2016." *Id*. Concluding, Dr. Grant stated:

[i]t is noteworthy to mention that based on the data reviewed, it is appears highly unlikely that Mr. Farmer's behaviors were not significantly compromised by the presence of mental disease or defect."

(R. 172 PDF)(emphasis added).

On October 11, 2022 the court granted the government's request for an independent examination by its expert, Dr. Tarvis Flowers and allowed him review all materials relied upon by Dr. Grant. (R. 174-183; 209-213 PDF). Based largely upon Dr. Grant's conclusion, Judge Okun granted defense counsel's motion to bifurcate the guilt and insanity phases of the trial and for separate juries on each issue (R. 214-218 PDF). The motion noticed that defense would present testimony from Dr. Stephen Lally, who based on an evaluation of Dr. Farmer and a review of his records, would testify "just as DBH Dr. Grant did, that Mr. Farmer's behavior was significantly compromised by the presence of a

mental disease or defect and therefore lacked criminal responsibility" (R. 216 PDF). In granting the motion on October 28, 2022, The Honorable Judge Okun presiding acknowledged that, although poorly written to contain a double negative, the plain text meaning of Dr. Grant's conclusion is that Mr. Farmer's behavior was significantly compromised by the presence of mental disease (Tr. 10/28 8-9). And that there was support for that conclusion in the context of the Report in Dr. Grant's acknowledgment that Mr. Farmer had:

[A] documented significant history of mental health treatment and diagnoses. I mean Mr. Farmer's been diagnosed with major depression, with schizoeffective disorder, and with bipolar disorder, and with multiple hospitalizations throughout the years.

(Tr. 10/28 p. 9). Further, that defense made a substantial proffer concerning Mr. Farmer's defense on the merits. (*Id.* at 14-15). Judge Okun granted defense counsel's motion to bifurcate on the condition that Dr. Lally's Report supported Dr. Grant's conclusion (*Id.* at 14).

On January 30, 2023 the government filed a Motion to Compel Expert Report [from Dr. Lally] in Compliance With Rule 16, Or In The Alternative To Preclude Testimony and Not Bifurcate Trial (R. 255 PDF). During hearing on February 3, 2023 Judge Okun announced that, due to a scheduling conflict Judge Epstein would be preside over

the trial. In addition, he mentioned Judge Epstein's concerns over Dr. Grant's use of a double negative in her Report, and deferred ruling on the government's motion to compel a report by Dr. Lally (Tr. 2/3/23 pp. 5-6). Defense counsel noted that she had emailed Dr. Grant with that question but had not received a response (*Id.* p. 7).

In the trial readiness hearing on February 16th, Judge Epstein shared a February 8, 2023 email from Dr. Grant in which she corrected her conclusion's use of a double negative and stated:

I also apologize for the confusion, but when writing criminal responsibility reports with my old eyes, LOL, it can at times be difficult to catch everything and spell check would not have caught this.

What I meant to state in my statement is it appears highly unlikely that Mr. Farmer's behaviors were significantly compromised by the presence of a mental disease or defect.

(2/16/23 Tr. p. 5)(emphasis added). Defense counsel responded stating "having now heard her [Dr. Grant's] response and heard that clarification. . . I no longer would call Dr. Grant to testify in the way that I indicated based on what I [then] understood her report to say" (*Id.* p. 6). Judge Epstein then granted the government's Rule 16 motion and excluded defense counsel from introducing the testimony of

Dr. Lally as its expert at trial concluding that defendant's Notice did not comply with Rule 16. (2/16/23 Tr. pp 8-9).

3. The Trial and Jury Instructions

Judge Epstein presided over Mr. Farmer's jury trial conducted from February 27th through March 6, 2023. The undisputed evidence was that Mr. Farmer shot Mr. Sturdivant in his hand and thigh during an altercation on February 25, 2021 (R. 43 PDF). Sturdivant did not initially identify Mr. Farmer as the assailant in his report to the police and testified that Mr. Farmer did not appear himself that day.

On March 2, 2023, the government rested and defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal which the court denied (3/2/23 Tr. pp. 50, 52, and 54 PDF). On March 3rd the court granted the government's request to deny defense counsel's request to provide the jury with instructions on self-defense on the assault charges. (*Id.* pp. 58-66; Order at R.338-345 PDF; *see* Jury Instructions at 3/6/23 Tr. pp. 79-90). The jury began their deliberations on the morning of March 6th and by late afternoon they sent two notes asking for instructions related to self-defense as follows:

1. Is there a jury instruction of definition of *self-defense*?

2. With respect to charge 4.101, what is the definition of voluntary? *If the Defendant acted in self-defense*, would that mean he acted involuntarily?

(R. 387 & 388 PDF (emphasis added)). On March 7, 2023 the court responded to the jury's notes by reading portions from The Redbook's self-defense jury instructions initially requested by defense counsel. And, at the government's request but over defense counsel's objection, the court also included jury instructions on "Self-Defense Where Defendant Might Have Been the Aggressor" the government sought. Compare R. 358-60, to R 394-97 PDF). The court then allowed each side ten minutes to argue for/against self-defense (3/7/23 Tr. pp. 11-32).

On March 7, 2023 the jury returned a verdict acquitting Mr. Famer on Counts One (Assault with intent to kill while armed) and Two (Possession of a firearm during a crime of violence) but found him guilty on the remaining Counts—Three through Twelve (R. 399-402 PDF).

4. <u>Sentencing</u>

In early August 2023, both Mr. Farmer and the government filed Memoranda in Aid of Sentencing (Mtn Supp. at A; R. 405 PDF, respectively). Mr. Farmer's Memorandum attached the Report of Dr. Lally (Mtn Supp. at A. 1). As represented in its Rule 16 Notice, Dr.

Lally's Report discussed many of the same bases and information as Dr. Grant's. (*Id. compare* with Notice at R. Sealed 29). And like Dr. Grant's, Dr. Lally's Report confirmed Mr. Farmer's history of hospitalizations and mental health diagnoses, and the fact that he had long suffered from bipolar and schizoaffective disorders, depression and other psychotic disorders (Def. Sent. Memo. Mtn. Supp. at A. p. 2, citing Reports of Grant and Lally). Citing Dr. Grant's Report, Dr. Lally concludes:

At the time of the instant offense, it is clear not only from Mr. Farmer's report, but the report of collateral sources as well as mental health records, that he was experiencing both manic and psychotic symptoms. *As Dr. Grant noted*, it is difficult to ascertain the impact at that time of any possible illicit substances, but there is no question that aside from those substances there is an underlying mental disorder.

(Mtn Supp. at A 1. P. 5) (emphasis added)

On August 22, 2023 Mr. Farmer appeared before Judge Epstein for sentencing (02/16/2023 Tr. generally). During his sentencing hearing, Judge Epstein agreed with the government that Count Four's possession conviction was a Group 7, not a Group 5 offense, and that all of the assault convictions (Counts 5 and 7) merged with Aggravated Assault While Armed (Count 3). (8/22/23 Tr. pp 2-3). The court then

sentenced Mr. Farmer to the top of the guidelines range on his

Aggravated Assault While Armed (Count 3) conviction, and to 60

months on Possession of a Firearm During a Crime of Violence (Count 4); sentences on both counts to run consecutively for a total of 204

months incarceration. In sentencing, the court considered conduct Mr.

Farmer had been acquitted on under Count One stating:

Let me say at the outset, because it may inform anything you want to say in addition to what you've said in your sentencing memorandum, I find by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Farmer intended to kill Mr. Sturdivant when he shot at him. I understand that the jury found Mr. Farmer not guilty on the AWIC charge. The jury had a reasonable doubt about an intent to kill.

(Tr. 8/22 p. 4). The court did not find that Mr. Farmer acted in self-defense, nor was it persuaded by Dr. Lally's report (filed in sentencing) that diagnosed Mr. Farmer with bipolar disorder and schizoaffective disorder (*Id.* p. 22). Instead, it relied on Dr. Grant's report which, as corrected, stated "it appears highly unlikely that Mr. Farmer's behaviors were significantly compromised by the presence of a mental disease of defect. (*Id.* p. 23). On August 29, 2023 Mr. Farmer filed a timely notice of appeal (R. 424 PDF).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the time of the subject offense, Mr. Farmer was 48 years-old and had a history of struggling with mental health problems. The reports from Farmer's mental health experts, Drs. Theresa Grant and Stephen Lally, recognized that as a young adult he began suffering from hallucinations and bouts of paranoia which led to a diagnosis of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder; and that in early 2021 he was admitted to Prince Georges Hospital Center for psychiatric decompensation. (R. Sealed pp. 29-45). Accordingly, defense counsel noted Farmer's intent to raise the defense of not guilty by reason of insanity, and timely filed a Notice identifying Drs. Grant and Lally as his expert witnesses in compliance with D.C. Superior Court Rule of Criminal Procedure 16(b).

Applying the appropriate *de novo* review, this Court should find that Farmer's 16(b) Notice complied with the Rule's requirements as set out in its plain text and confirmed by this Court in *Miller v. United States*, 115 A.3d 564 (D.C. 2015). The Notice provided the requisite written "summary" of the testimony of intended trial experts Drs. Grant and Lally; and—by its content and the attachment of Dr. Grant's report

and the experts' resumes—it described the witnesses opinions, bases, and qualifications. Sup. Ct. Rule 16(b)(1). Nothing more was required.

Neither the language of the Rule, nor this Court's precedents, required counsel to file a (then incomplete) report by Dr. Lally. Thus, the trial court erred in granting the government's motion claiming that without Lally's Report, Framer's Notice did not comply with Rule 16(b). Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Farmer's Notice did not comply with the Rule, the trial court's sanction of excluding Dr. Lally's testimony was an abuse of discretion given the lesser available option of continuing his trial until the inevitable time when the doctor's report was completed.

In addition, the trial court erred in granting the government's request to exclude defense counsel's jury instructions on self-defense when there was both evidence of self-defense in the record, and defense counsel had argued it to the jury. The court's error was underscored by the fact that, shortly after deliberations, the jury sent a note asking "[i]s there a jury instruction or definition of self-defense" (R 387 PDF). The court's subsequent response, which included instructions defense counsel objected to as they related to finding Mr. Farmer the aggressor, did not remove the taint of the court's initial error so as to render it

harmless. Consequently, for the foregoing reasons, this court should find sufficient error to vacate and remand Mr. Farmer's conviction.

ARGUMENT

I. Because Farmer's Notice of Experts Complied with The Requirements of Rule 16(b), The Trial Court Erred In Excluding the Testimony of His Expert Witness

A. Standard of Review

This court imposes a two-pronged test in reviewing Mr. Farmer's claim that the trial court erred in both finding that he had not complied with D.C. Superior Court Rule of Criminal Procedure 16 (Rule 16), and in excluding Dr. Lally's testimony as a sanction for that noncompliance. Miller v. United States, 115 A.3d 564, 566 (D.C. 2015). First, it reviews the trial court's finding de novo since "a party's compliance with ... Rule 16 disclosure requirements is a question of law." Id., quoting Murphy—Bey v. United States, 982 A.2d 682, 688 (D.C.2009). Applying that standard to its review of the record here reveals that Mr. Farmer's Notice for expert witnesses Drs. Theresa Grant and Stephen Lally fully complied with the Rule.

Second, if it finds that the defendant violated Rule 16, this court reviews the trial court's decision to impose sanctions (including exclusion of evidence not disclosed) for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 689.

This Court applies a three-factor test for determining whether the trial court abused its discretion in excluding witness testimony which considers: 1) the reason for the nondisclosure, 2) the impact of the nondisclosure on the trial of the particular case; and 3) the impact of the particular sanction on the proper administration of justice. *Miller*, 115 A.3d 568, citing *United States v. Ferguson*, 866 A.2d 54, 59 (D.C. 2005). In applying this test, it is evident that the trial court abused its discretion when it excluded Dr. Lally's testimony instead of granting counsel a continuance for him to complete his report.

B. Mr. Farmer Timely Filed Notice of Experts, Complied with D.C. Superior Court Rule of Criminal Procedure 16(b).

Mr. Farmer provided proper notice under Superior Court
Criminal Rule 12, of his intent to raise the defense of Not Guilty by
Reason of insanity (NGRI); and on January 17, 2023 filed a timely Rule
16(b)(1)(C) Notice identifying his intent to call Department of
Behavioral Health (DBH) doctor Teresa Grant, and/or Dr. Stephen
Lally, Ph.D., ABPP as expert witnesses on his behalf (R. Sealed 29). The
Notice attached Dr. Grant's 15-page, August 2022, Report in which she
expressly stated that:

[I]t appears highly unlikely that Mr. Farmer's behavior was not significantly compromised by the presence of mental disease or defect"

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