Clerk of the Court  
Received 11/15/2024 03:33 PM  
Filed 11/15/2024 03:33 PM

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

---

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
COURT OF APPEALS

---

No. 23-CF-723

---

STEFAN FARMER,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
CRIMINAL DIVISION

---

MATTHEW M. GRAVES  
United States Attorney

CHRISSELLEN R. KOLB  
NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN

\* ELIZABETH GABRIEL  
MD Bar  
Assistant United States Attorneys

\* Counsel for Oral Argument  
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232  
Washington, D.C. 20530  
Elizabeth.Gabriel@usdoj.gov  
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2021-CF3-2178

##

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

---

<sup>18</sup> Farmer filed a written motion for reconsideration, which the trial court denied (3/6/23 Tr. 3). Nevertheless, “based on the opening statements” and the anticipated closing arguments, the court recognized that self-defense was the “elephant in the room” and that the jury might wonder whether “self-defense [was] in the case or not” (*id.* at 9). The court proposed instructing the jury that self-defense was “not available as a matter of law,” but both parties objected to any such instruction (*id.* at 8-12).



Defense counsel requested that the court instruct the jury on self-defense (3/6/23 Tr. 159). Although the government maintained that there was still no factual basis for such an instruction, it agreed that a self-defense instruction would be an appropriate response; however, it also requested that the court deliver the “first aggressor” instruction (*id.* at 160-162). Defense counsel objected to the “first aggressor” instruction and moved for a mistrial, asserting that Farmer could not “get a fair trial where . . . self-defense, which was his defense and should have been instructed originally, is now some afterthought” (*id.* at 166-167).

The trial court overruled the objection, denied the motion for a mistrial, and the next morning gave extensive instructions on self-defense, including the “first aggressor” instruction (3/7/23 Tr. 7-11).<sup>19</sup> Following these instructions, the court permitted the parties to make additional closing arguments (3/7/23 Tr. 11-36). Less than an hour later, the jury returned its verdict, convicting Farmer of all but the AWIK and related PFCOV charges (*id.* at 38-41; R. 398-402 (Verdict Form)).

---

<sup>19</sup> The “first aggressor” instruction read:

One who knowingly and unnecessarily places himself in a position in conscious disregard of a substantial risk that his presence will provoke a violent confrontation cannot claim self-defense. If you find that Mr. Farmer was the aggressor or provoked imminent danger of bodily harm upon himself, he cannot rely upon the right of self-defense to justify his use of force. (3/7/23 Tr. 10.)

## **B. Standard of Review and Legal Principles**

A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on any theory that could negate guilt of the crime charged, as long as there is some evidence, however weak, to support the instruction. *Higgenbottom v. United States*, 923 A.2d 891, 899 (D.C. 2007). When a self-defense instruction is requested, the trial court must decide as a matter of law whether there is sufficient evidence from the prosecution, the defense, or both, to support the instruction. *See Hernandez v. United States*, 853 A.2d 202, 205 & n.4 (D.C. 2004). The evidence is considered in the light most favorable to the defendant. *Id.* at 205. However, “[t]he evidence to support the trial court’s giving a self-defense instruction is insufficient if the jury is required to cross the bounds of permissible inference and enter the forbidden territory of conjecture and speculation.” *Jones v. United States*, 999 A.2d 917, 922 (D.C. 2010) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted),.

“To be entitled to a self-defense instruction, the evidence must show that ‘(1) there was an actual or apparent threat to the defendant; (2) the threat was unlawful and immediate; (3) the defendant honestly and reasonably believed that he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm; and (4) the defendant’s response was necessary to save himself from danger.’” *Binion v. United States*, 319 A.3d 953, 968 (D.C. 2024) (citation omitted). A defendant may not use any greater force than he actually and reasonably believes to be necessary under the circumstances to save

his life or avert serious bodily harm. *Gay v. United States*, 12 A.3d 643, 648 (D.C. 2011). Nor may a defendant claim self-defense “if the defendant was the aggressor, or if s/he provoked the conflict upon himself/herself.” *Rorie v. United States*, 882 A.2d 763, 772 (D.C. 2005) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

The trial court’s failure to give a defense-theory instruction that is supported by evidence is reversible error unless the error is harmless. *Higgenbottom*, 923 A.2d at 899. “To find an instructional error harmless, [the Court] must be satisfied with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

### **C. Discussion**

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by initially refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense. As the court correctly noted, there was no evidence to support a reasonable belief that Farmer was in “imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm from which he could save himself only by firing his handgun at Mr. Sturdivant” (R. 339). Contrary to defense counsel’s insinuation throughout the trial, there was no evidence that Sturdivant had a gun on the day in question. Not a single witness testified that Sturdivant had a gun, no gun was found despite an exhaustive search of the blood trail and the yard in which Sturdivant hid, and nothing in the Ring video supported an inference that Sturdivant was armed. *See Dorsey v. United States*, 935

A.2d 288, 292 (D.C. 2007) (defendant was not entitled to self-defense instruction where, inter alia, victim was not armed, had uttered no threats, and did not obtain control of a weapon); *Edwards v. United States*, 721 A.2d 938, 942 (D.C. 1998) (“conclud[ing] that, as a matter of law, [defendant] was not entitled to a self-defense instruction,” where defendant fired two shots at victim who “did not hold any weapon”; “[e]ven . . . allow[ing] for a possible jury inference that [victim’s] reaching for [defendant’s] legs was a threatening lunge, absent a weapon, this could not reasonably be considered a threat of imminent death or serious bodily harm”); *Harper v. United States*, 608 A.2d 152, 155 (D.C. 1992) (trial court properly refused to give self-defense instruction, where, despite defendant’s testimony that victim lunged at her, “there was no evidence of a weapon in [victim’s] hands . . . and no evidence that [victim] had touched appellant”).

As defense counsel conceded below (3/2/23 Tr. 60, 64, 69-70), the video did not show anything in Sturdivant’s right hand when he raised it before Farmer shot him, nor did it clearly show Sturdivant make any gesture towards his waistband.<sup>20</sup>

---

<sup>20</sup> The court noted that Sturdivant’s arm movements were “ambiguous” at best, and “simply appear[ed] to be gesticulation during an argument” (R. 340-341). In any event, even if Sturdivant had reached for his waistband, absent evidence that he brandished or displayed a gun, a self-defense instruction still would not have been warranted. *See Binion*, 319 A.3d at 968 (trial court did not err in declining to instruct on self-defense where, “[e]ven if [defendant] established that [victim] had the gun in the alley, he presented no evidence that [victim] ever took out the gun, much less so in such a way that could justify a self-defense instruction”). Shooting at Sturdivant  
(continued . . .)

Indeed, the video showed Sturdivant back away as Farmer angrily confronted him, and he turned and walked away before Farmer started shooting (Govt. Ex. 15). The trial court thus correctly found that “it would be sheer speculation on the jury’s part to think that Mr. Sturdivant may have had a gun based on any of his arm movements” (R. 340). *See Henry v. United States*, 94 A.3d 752, 757 (D.C. 2014) (trial court “may decline to give the requested instruction if application of the instruction would require the jury to rely on purely speculative inferences”); *Kittle v. United States*, 65 A.3d 1144, 1160 (D.C. 2013) (“self-defense instruction ‘would have invited the jury to engage in speculation and a trial court is not required to instruct the jury on a defense theory that indulges or encourages speculation about events or beliefs not supported by testimony’”).

“Not only was there no evidence that [Sturdivant] was armed; there also was no evidence that either [a witness] or appellant perceived that [Sturdivant] was armed.” *See Henry*, 94 A.3d at 759. As the trial court noted, “[n]othing in Mr. Farmer’s body language or in the audio suggest[ed] that he reacted to any arm movement as if Mr. Sturdivant had just pointed a gun at him; the video d[id] not

---

three times merely because he moved his hand toward his waistband would clearly be excessive. *See Edwards*, 721 A.2d at 942 (defendant used excessive force and therefore was not entitled to self-defense instruction, where he shot unarmed victim twice); *Harper*, 608 A.2d at 155 (“[T]he trial judge may not give a self-defense instruction where the defendant, as a matter of law, has used excessive force.”).

show any change in Mr. Farmer's actions or tone toward Mr. Sturdivant after Mr. Sturdivant made any gestures with his arm" (R. 340). Furthermore, nothing in the "surrounding circumstances" suggested that Sturdivant posed an imminent threat of death or serious bodily injury, or that Farmer reasonably believed that to be the case; there was no evidence of prior conflict between the two friends and no evidence that Sturdivant was known to carry a gun or to engage in threatening or assaultive conduct. *See Henry*, 94 A.3d at 759 (upholding trial court's refusal to give self-defense instruction where there was no evidence that victim was armed, and "surrounding circumstances" did not show that defendant reasonably believed that victim "was about to start shooting him"; notwithstanding prior dispute, defendant testified he was not "deathly afraid" of victim). Moreover, Farmer's conduct after the shooting - apologizing to Sturdivant for "the inconvenience" (Govt. Ex. 17) - belies any notion that Farmer reasonably and sincerely believed that his life was in danger. *See Kittle*, 65 A.3d at 1159 (defendant's actions after striking victim "undermine[d] the possibility that [he] acted in self-defense").

Farmer's reliance (at 30-31) on *Hernandez*, 853 A.2d at 202, and *Reid v. United States*, 581 A.2d 359 (D.C. 1990), is misplaced. In *Hernandez*, there was evidence that half an hour after the charged stabbing, the defendant "returned home with injuries to his neck that appeared to his mother as if someone had grabbed him around the neck and choked him, leaving his neck scratched and bruised; and he had

debris in his hair and on his back suggesting that he had been lying on his back.” 853 A.2d at 205. Furthermore, a doctor opined that the victim’s wounds “could have been inflicted by someone lying on the ground and stabbing upwards.” *Id.* at 206. Because this evidence “fairly raised the issue” of whether the defendant had stabbed the victim in self-defense during the course of a struggle, the trial court erred by not giving a self-defense instruction. *Id.*

In *Reid*, police responded to a radio run that “two men and a woman were fighting with knives.” 581 A.2d at 361. Upon arrival, an officer observed the defendant “facing four or five other people with a knife in his right hand in a very threatening manner with a look like he was arguing with them.” *Id.* When asked “what he was doing with the knife,” the defendant responded, “I’m going to show these motherfuckers they don’t be fucking with me. I’ll fuck them up.” *Id.* At trial, one of the men in the group admitted that he had a knife and testified that he and the defendant were “playing with knives.” *Id.* at 362. On appeal, this Court held that the evidence was sufficient to support a self-defense instruction. *Id.* at 367.

Unlike in *Hernandez*, there was no evidence here that Farmer had been attacked or had suffered injuries during the confrontation with the victim. And unlike in *Reid*, there was no evidence that Farmer had been surrounded by others with weapons and or made any statement indicating his fear that he would have to protect himself.

To the contrary, the evidence showed that Farmer was the aggressor. While seated in his car, Farmer reached down, retrieved a gun, and pointed it at Sturdivant (2/28/23 Tr. 48). When Sturdivant tried to close the car door, Farmer got out of the car and continued to menacingly shout at Sturdivant as Sturdivant backed away and retreated to the other side of the car (2/28/23 Tr. 48, 54; Govt. Ex. 15). When Sturdivant then turned his back to Farmer and began to walk away, Farmer shot at him three times, stopping only because McDaniels pushed him away (*id.*). As the trial court noted, “[t]he fact that Mr. Farmer got his gun before he got out of his vehicle and before any allegedly threatening or provocative action by Mr. Sturdivant indicates that Mr. Farmer escalated the encounter and armed himself for reasons unrelated to self-defense” (R. 342). Further, given that Sturdivant was walking away when Farmer started shooting, “[n]o reasonable jury could conclude that, at that point in the encounter, Mr. Farmer might reasonably have believed that Mr. Sturdivant posed an imminent threat to him of death or serious bodily injury” (R. 341). Under these circumstances, the trial court rightly declined to instruct the jury on self-defense. *See Martin v. United States*, 452 A.2d 360, 363 (D.C. 1982) (“It is fundamental that when one is the aggressor in an altercation, he cannot rely upon the right of self-defense to justify his first use of force.”).

Farmer claims that the trial court “invaded the province of the jury” by “rel[ying] upon its own view of the evidence” (App. Br. 31). Specifically, Farmer



takes issue with the court’s assessment of his theory that Sturdivant hid a gun in the yard after the shooting, asserting that “it was the right of the jury, and not the court, to weigh [the evidence]” (*id.* at 31-32). But the court was required to assess the evidence as a threshold matter to determine if there was any support for a self-defense instruction, *see Henry*, 94 A.3d at 757 (“trial court must decide as a matter of law whether there is sufficient evidence to support a requested instruction”), and the court properly recognized that it was to view the evidence in the light most favorable to Farmer (R. 339 (quoting *Hernandez*, 853 A.2d at 205)). Even viewing the evidence in that light, the trial court correctly found that “[t]here [wa]s no direct or circumstantial evidence that Mr. Sturdivant had a gun” (R. 340). Farmer has not shown that this finding was clearly erroneous.

Even assuming *arguendo* that the trial court erred, any error was harmless because the court gave extensive instructions on self-defense in response to the jury notes shortly after the jury began deliberating.<sup>21</sup> Farmer argues that these instructions were prejudicial because they included the “first aggressor” instruction (App. Br.

---

<sup>21</sup> Farmer contends that the jury notes provided “[f]urther evidence that self-defense instructions were warranted” (App. Br. 32). As the trial court observed, it was “hardly surprising” that the jury had asked about self-defense given that this theory was a running theme in defense counsel’s opening statement and closing argument (3/6/23 Tr. 167-168). Of course, counsel’s arguments to the jury are not evidence, and as we have explained *supra*, neither the testimony nor the video evidence supported a self-defense theory.

33). As discussed supra, there was ample evidence that Farmer was the aggressor. *See Tyler v. United States*, 975 A.2d 848, 858 (D.C. 2009) (upholding trial court’s decision to give “first aggressor” instruction, where it had evidentiary support and “was consistent with the fundamental legal principles pertaining to ‘the first aggressor’ or provocation”). The court’s instructions thus “properly inform[ed] the jury of the applicable legal principles involved.” *See Higgenbottom*, 923 A.2d at 899 (citations omitted).

In addition to providing the requested self-defense instructions, the trial court also gave counsel additional time to present argument specifically on self-defense. Farmer has not explained why the self-defense instructions and supplemental closing argument were insufficient to mitigate any prejudice that arose during the brief period of deliberations before the jury was reinstructed. Because the trial court’s response to the jury notes thoroughly remedied any possible error in failing to initially instruct on self-defense, the alleged error was harmless. *Cf. Jackson v. United States*, 645 A.2d 1099, 1105 (D.C. 1994) (failure to give “false appearances” instruction was harmless error where instructions taken as a whole, together with reinstructions, conveyed the legal principle).

## CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully submits that the judgment of the Superior Court should be affirmed.